
1

Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way 
Committee
Meeting Venue
Trefeglwys Village Hall, Trefeglwys, 
Caersws, Powys SY17 5PH

Meeting Date
Wednesday, 10 October 2018

Meeting Time
11.00 am

For further information please contact

County Hall
Llandrindod Wells

Powys
LD1 5LG

Carol Johnson
01597826206
carol.johnson@powys.gov.uk

3 October, 2018

The use of Welsh by participants is welcomed. If you wish to use Welsh please 
inform us by noon, two working days before the meeting

AGENDA

NOTE: the Committee will meet at 9.30 a.m. to receive a briefing and then 
undertake a site visit

1. APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence.

Rights of Way

2. COMMONS REGISTRATION ACT 1965 / COMMONS ACT 2006 - 
APPLICATION 16-001VG TO REGISTER A NEW TOWN OR VILLAGE 
GREEN 

To consider Application 16-001VG to register a new Town or Village Green on land 
at Hillcrest, Aberhafesp (Community of Aberhafesp).

2.1. Welcome, fire arrangements and introductions

Public Document Pack



2.2. Declarations of interest
To receive any declarations of interest.

2.3. Timetable for the hearing
The Hearing will follow the attached timetable.
(Pages 5 - 6)

2.4. Officer's report
(Pages 7 - 12)

2.5. Documentation
The documentation is attached.   
(Pages 13 - 192)

Hearing to adjourn for the day at 4.30 p.m.

NOTE: On 11 October, 2018 the Committee will arrive at 9.30 a.m.

Hearing to reconvene at 10.00 a.m.

3. WELCOME, FIRE ARRANGEMENTS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

3.1. Timetable for the Hearing
The Hearing will follow the attached timetable.  
(Pages 193 - 194)

3.2. Public Hearing closes at 11.00 p.m.

4. CLOSED SESSION FOR THE COMMITTEE TO DEBATE EVIDENCE 



Timetable – Village Green hearing, 10th & 11th October 16-001VG

Time What
Wednesday 10th October:
11:00 Hearing opens – Welcome, fire arrangements, introduction
11:10 Receive declarations of interest
11:15 Applicant opening statement
11:30 Landowner opening statement
11:45 Applicant (Witness 1) – Statement and cross examination
12:00 Applicant witness 2 – Statement and cross examination
12:15 Applicant witness 3 – Statement and cross examination
12:30 Applicant witness 4 – Statement and cross examination
12:45 Applicant witness 5 – Statement and cross examination
13:00 Lunch break
13:45 Applicant witness 6 – Statement and cross examination
14:00 Applicant witness 7 – Statement and cross examination
14:15 Applicant witness 8 – Statement and cross examination
14:30 Applicant witness 9 – Statement and cross examination
14:45 Applicant witness 10 – Statement and cross examination
15:00 Break
15:15 Applicant witness 11 – Statement and cross examination
15:30 Applicant witness 12 – Statement and cross examination
15:45 Applicant witness 13 – Statement and cross examination
16:00 Applicant witness 14 – Statement and cross examination
16:30 Hearing adjourned for the day

Page 3

2.3



This page is intentionally left blank



CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
10th and 11th October 2018 

 
REPORT BY: HEAD OF LEISURE AND RECREATION 
 
SUBJECT: Commons Registration Act 1965 / Commons Act 2006 
 Application 16-001VG to Register a new Town or 

Village Green 
 

 
REPORT FOR: INFORMATION 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Application 16-001VG to register a new Town or Village Green on land at 
Hillcrest, Aberhafesp (Community of Aberhafesp.) 
 
The application: 
1. Application 16-001VG was made by Mr Richard Amy and is dated 1st 

November 2016.  
 

2. The land subject of the application is a parcel of land surrounded by the 
housing estate known as ‘Hillcrest’, Aberhafesp. It extends to an area of 
approximately 0.15 hectares (0.32 acres) and is located within the estate, 
to the east of the B4558 and to the west of Aberhafesp Hall, Aberhafesp, 
Powys. The land is shown edged in red on the location plan at appendix A. 

 
3. The application was made on form 44, as required by The Commons 

(Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2007. It was received by the Registration Authority on 2nd 
November 2016.   

 
4. The application was numbered 16-001VG and stamped as duly made on 

16th November 2016, following a check by officers of Commons Registration 
and Legal Services. 

 
5. The application was accompanied by four exhibits, as follows: 

a. Exhibit A: A plan of the land that the applicant is seeking to register 
and the locality or neighbourhood to which the alleged green relates;  

b. Exhibit B: Two photographs; 
c. Exhibit C: A single photograph; 
d. Exhibit D: User witness evidence, in the form of 17 letters. 

 
6. Notice of the application was advertised in the County Times on 20th 

January 2017. Notices were displayed on site and served on the applicant 
and landowner(s), as required by the Regulations; the Community Council 
was also notified of the application.  
 

Page 5

2.4



7. A period of 6 weeks from the date of advertising was allowed for receipt of 
any objections or representations, with the deadline being 3rd March 2017. 

8. An objection was received, from the owners of the land affected, Mr F 
Davies and Mr P Davies. It should be noted that responsibility for 
representing the case for the landowners now rests solely with Mr F Davies.  
 

9. The objection was in the form of: 
a. A letter from Wace Morgan solicitors, setting out the legal basis for 

the objection from their clients, Messrs Davies; 
b. A letter from Messrs Davies and three pieces of correspondence 

between other parties. 
 

10. Aberhafesp Community Council submitted an email expressing support for 
the application, although this was received after the deadline of 3rd March. 

 
11. The applicant was provided with a copy of the objection and given 

opportunity to comment on it; his comments were forwarded to the objector. 
Further to that, the applicant and objector have been given opportunity to 
submit any further witness statements, together with case summaries and 
legal arguments. These have been provided to the other party for review. 

 
12. The applicant has now submitted user witness evidence from a total of 26 

individuals, including himself. His responses to the objection (which include 
some witness evidence, further photographs and correspondence about 
planning proposals) are part of the papers for the hearing. He has also 
submitted further photographs with his witness statements. 

 
13. The objector has submitted his own witness statement, in the form of a 

letter. He has also submitted a legal submission for the hearing, prepared 
by Manby Bowdler solicitors on his behalf. 

 
The Statutory Requirements: 
14. This application has been made under section 15(2) of the Commons Act 

2006.  The provisions of Section 15(2) apply in circumstances where: 
 
(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application. 
 

15. The burden of proof is the normal, civil standard, namely, the balance of 
probabilities. 

 
Locality and Neighbourhood 
16. A ‘Locality’ must be an area recognised in law; it cannot be created by 

drawing a line on a map. A ‘Neighbourhood’ need not be a recognised 
administrative unit but the area chosen must have a degree of 
cohesiveness. 
 

Page 6



17. The application is based on long use of the application land by the 
inhabitants of the area marked in blue on the plan at exhibit A. The applicant 
has not stated whether the area identified is a neighbourhood or locality. 

 
The relevant 20-year period 
18. Section 15 (2) of the 2006 Act applies where there has been use of the land 

as of right for a period of 20 years and that use was continuing at the time 
of the application. 
 

19. Use must be continuous in the sense that it has not been interrupted for any 
significant period of time. However, any periods of statutory closure can be 
disregarded. 

 
20. The application was signed and dated on the 1st November 2016 and was 

received by the Registration Authority on the 16th November 2016. The 
relevant 20-year period of use by the inhabitants of the locality would 
therefore run from November 1996 to November 2016. 
 

Use of the land for lawful sports and pastimes 
21. The Defra Guidance to pioneer authorities advises that: 

“It was established in the Sunningwell case that lawful sports and pastimes is 
a composite class which includes any activity that can properly be called a 
sport or a pastime. There is no necessity for any organised sports or 
communal activities to have taken place. Solitary and informal kinds of 
recreation, such as dog walking and children playing (by themselves or with 
adults), will satisfy the criterion.” 
 

22. The activities need to have taken place on the land subject of the 
application. 
 

23. Courts have interpreted ‘lawful’ as excluding all activities which would be 
illegal in the sense of amounting to criminal offences (whether or not they 
caused damage to the owner’s property.) 

 
Use ‘as of right’ 
24. Use ‘as of right’ has a particular legal meaning and means that use is made 

openly – i.e. without force, without secrecy and without permission. 
 

25. The use should be shown to have been of such a character, degree and 
frequency as to indicate an assertion by the claimant of a continuous right, 
and of a right of the measure of the right claimed. 
 

26. Use is not ‘as of right’ if users already have a statutory or other legal right to 
use the land. Use is then ‘by right’ or ‘of right’. 

 
Use by a significant number of inhabitants of the locality 
27. ‘Significant’ does not mean considerable or substantial. What matters is that 

the number of people using the land in question has to be sufficient to 
indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the 

Page 7



local community for informal recreation, rather than occasional use by 
individuals as trespassers. McAlpine Homes [2002] 
 

28. ‘Significant’ implies a number of users relative to the size of the population 
of the relevant locality or neighbourhood. 

 
CONCLUSIONS: 
Following the Hearing, having had the opportunity to examine the written 
evidence provided, hear the oral evidence presented and seek further legal 
advice if needed, the Committee is required to reach one of the following 
conclusions: 
 

(1) On the basis that, the land in question satisfies ALL the statutory 
requirements for registration as a village green: 
  
That the application to register the parcel of land at Hillcrest, Aberhafesp as 
shown edged red on Notice Plan 16-001VG, be accepted and the land 
registered as a ‘new’ town or village green; 
 

OR: 
(2) On the basis that only part of the land in question satisfies all the statutory 
requirements for registration as a village green: 
 

That the application to register the parcel of land at Hillcrest, Aberhafesp as 
shown edged red on Notice Plan 16-001VG, be accepted in part. 
 

OR: 
(3) On the basis that the land in question fails to satisfy one or more of the 
statutory requirements for registration as a village green: 
 

That the application to register the parcel of land at Hillcrest, Aberhafesp as 
shown edged red on Notice Plan 16-001VG, be rejected. 
 

Page 8



122.5m

130.9m

Brynawel

8

Aberhafesp Hall

1 to 4

7

1

Nant y Coed

Warrendale

2

Llys AwelY G
ilfach

6

Linden Lea

Tara

11

5

9

Beech Grove

4

WenDraenen

Ballengioch

Pendower

13

Llwyn Glas

Madryn

Bryn Vira

Bryn Heulog

Lodge
The

Beechcroft

C
attle G

rid

HILL CR
ES
T

Application no. 16-001VG  Commons Act 2006 - Section 15(1)
Land at Hillcrest, Aberhafesp, Powys, SY16 3HL
OS Grid Reference SO 069,924

Cyngor Sir County Council

Printed by: 

 

Mrs S Barnes Date 29/12/2016 Scale 1:1250
For Identification Purposes only

306800

306800

306850

306850

306900

306900

306950

306950

307000

307000

307050

307050

307100

307100
29

25
00

29
25

00

29
24

50

29
24

50

29
24

00

29
24

00

29
23

50

29
23

50KEY TO NOTATION:

LAND SUBJECT
OF APPLICATION

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100025371
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2016 Arolwg Ordnans 100025371
Additional information © Powys County Council 2016 No additional copies should be made without the permission of the Council.
Gwybodaeth ychwanegol © Cyngor Sir Powys 2016 Ni ddylid gwneud unrhyw gopïau ychwanegol heb ganiatâd y Cyngor. 

P
age 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document 01

Page 11

2.5



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



(Jonathan Crosskey - signature redacted)

Document 02

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 03

Page 23



(Jonathan Crosskey - signature redacted)

Page 24



Document 04

Page 25



(Jonathan Crosskey - signature 

redacted)

P
age 26



(Signature redacted - Jonathan Crosskey)

Document 05

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 06

Page 29



(Signature redacted)

Page 30



(Signatures redacted)

Page 31



(Signatures redacted - G and PE Fleming)

Page 32



(Signature redacted)Page 33



(Signatures redacted)

P
age 34



(Signature redacted)

Page 35



(Signature redacted)

Page 36



(Signature redacted)

Page 37



(Signatures redacted)

Page 38



(Signatures redacted)

Page 39



(Signature redacted - D.R. Jones)

Page 40



(Signatures redacted)

Page 41



(Signature redacted)

Page 42



(Signature redacted)

Page 43



(Signature redacted)

Page 44



(Signature redacted - E. Jones)

(Signature redacted - R.Amy)

Page 45



Page 46



(Signature redacted - C.S. Davies)

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 07

Page 49



Page 50



(Signature redacted)

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 08

Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



�

�

�

Document 09

Page 61



�

�

�

Page 62



�

�

�

�

�

(Teresa Burrows – 

signature redacted) 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 12

IMGA0106.JPG

Hillcrest children playing on the Green 11th December 2016 to show usage even in the 
colder and damper months.

IMGA0145.JPG

Hillcrest children playing on the Green 18th December 2016 to show usage even in the 
colder and damper months.

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 13

Page 71



Page 72



(Signatures redacted - GPP Davies & DF Davies)Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 14

Page 77



Page 78



(Signature redacted - Rachel Wierzbinski)

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 15

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 16

Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Document 17

Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 18

Page 97



Page 98



Document 19

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 20

Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 21

Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Document 23

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 23

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 24

Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Document 25

Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Document 26

Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Additional Photos supplied by the applicant on CD 2003 - 2017 

Photo entitled ‘Compare’ (Not dated) March 2003 

March 2003 February 2007 

March 2007 March 2008 

Document 27

Page 157



June 2013     June 2013 

      

June 2013     September 2013 

     

August 2015     November 2015 

     

January 2016     May 2016 

    

Page 158



 

June 2016     June 2016 

     

     

     

July 2016     October 2016 

     

 

Page 159



October 2016 

     

       

     

December 2016 

     

March 2017 

     

Page 160



 

April 2017 

    

    

 

August 2017      September 2017 

   

 

Page 161



November 2017 December 2017 

December 2017 

Page 162



Additional Photos supplied by the applicant on CD 2018 

January 2018  February 2108 

March 2018 March 2018 

May 2018 June 2018 

Document 28

Page 163



June 2018    June 2018 

     

      

July 2018      August 2018 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164



August 2018 

     

     

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Document 29

Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



Date: September 2
nd

 2018

Commons Registration Act 1965 & Commons Act 2006 – Section 15(1) 

CASE SUMMARY BY APPLICANT Mr. Richard Amy 

Madryn, Hillcrest, Aberhafesp, Powys SY16 3HL 

Unfortunately I am not a Solicitor and have no legal training so I apologise if this 

document is not particularly professional. 

At the hearing I intend to demonstrate that the land in question has been used by the 

children of Hillcrest “as of right” for the period between October 1996 and October 

2016. 

The evidence given by The Objector (Landowner Mr. F. Davies) is inaccurate and 

therefore his objections become invalid. 

I am not suggesting that Mr. F. Davies is trying to intentionally mislead the hearing, 

but the fact is that he has limited social connection with and knowledge of the 

Hillcrest estate and its population, beyond the construction side of it.   

After their last construction project finished in the mid 1980’s, and prior to taking 

over the grass cutting in 2014 the Davies brothers were rarely ever on the estate.  

They took no part in the social life of the community and were only present on the 

estate to deliver sewage charge bills annually (usually at night), and to try to fix 

problems with their malfunctioning sewage system.  They therefore had no way of 

knowing the frequency or type of usage of the green by the children or adults. 

“Significant number of inhabitants” 

Mr. Davies lack of knowledge of the families of the Hillcrest estate is demonstrated 

by his claims on the number of familes with children living on Hillcrest.  In his 

statement of the 7
th

 September he states “Whilst at one point many years ago there

were several children living on the estate, at the date of the application it is my 

understanding that there were only 2 children living there” 

Completely wrong.  At the time of the application there were four households with 

school-age children living here, and all of these used the green for recreation: 

Chris & Kathryn Pugh – 2 children 

Greg Garcia-Ocana and Mel Humphreys – 2 children 

Matt & Cara Rawsthorne – 1 child 

Andrew Bromley – 1 child (not resident every day) 

Since the application was submitted the Rawsthornes have left Hillcrest but they have 

been replaced by another family also with one school-age daughter who uses the 

green. 

Document 30

Page 177



In the Objecter’s summary 7
th

 September  2018 he repeats this claim that there are 

only two children living on the estate, in relation to a photograph I supplied in March 

2017 of him cutting the grass whilst two children play football.  To gauge the 

credibility that should be given to Mr. Davies testimony he claims that the photograph 

shows his son cutting the grass, when in fact it is Mr. F. Davies himself riding the 

mower.  Perhaps if an individual cannot recognise himself then his testimony should 

be taken with a pinch of salt. 

 

Whilst there were fewer families with children at the time of the application than at 

any point over the previous years, there have always been families with children here, 

51 of these since I have lived here.  These are the families with children that my 

neighbours and I can recall: 

 

Brian & Mia Poole - 3 children 

Richard & Carol Amy - 2 children 

Humphrey & Liz Davies - 3 children 

Gwyn & Trish Fleming - 1 child 

Gareth & Helen Owen - 2 children 

Tony & Cheryl Orme - 3 children 

Peggy Bound - 2 children 

Keith & Marie Turner - 3 children 

Micheal & Margaret Jones - 2 children 

Brandon & Ruth Lane - 3 children 

Jim & Cheryl Rutter - 4 children 

Charlie & Mary Lowndes - 2 children 

Margaret & Robert Jones - 2 children 

Sharon & Jason Bright - 3 children 

Donaways - 2 children 

Andy & Sandie McDonald - 2 children 

Teresa Burrows - 2 children 

Chris & Kathryn Pugh - 2 children 

Gareth & Dawn Davis - 3 children 

Tony & Lucind Barfoot - 2 children 

Marks - 2 children 

Andrew Bromley - 1 child 

Greg & Mel - 2 children 

Steve & Helen Wright - 3 children 

Matthey & Cara Rawsthorne - 1 child & 1 baby 

New Family (Beech Grove) - 1 child 

 

In the Objector’s Case Summary (part 14) he states that “Looking at the evidence 

holistically, it is clear that prior to the Application being submitted the Land was 

primarily played on by children who were not resident on the Estate, and were not 

therefore inhabitants of the locality/neighbourhood”. 

 

That statement is of course entirely wrong.  Over the 20 year period dozens of 

resident children played on the Land, and even at the time of the application 6 resident 

children played on the Land.  It should also be noted that when grandchildren of 

residents are using the estate they usually have at least one resident grandparent with 

them supervising so the green is being used by residents. 

Page 178



 

It is correct that adult gatherings on the Land are infrequent but this is true of all 

Village Greens. 

 

It is also true that there is little photographic evidence of children playing on the Land 

over the 20 year period of the application, but it should be remembered that the desire 

to photograph everything is a recent phenomenon encouraged by the growth of social 

media.  I took photographs of my children playing on our family holidays, and school 

sports days, not when they were playing after getting home from school.   

 

I started taking photographs of children and adults using the Land only since I 

submitted the application, and whilst they do not cover the 20 year period in question 

they do show the sorts of activities that occur on the land. 

 

“Any locality, or any neighbourhood within a locality” 

 

It is the case that the Land in the middle of Hillcrest has been used primarily but not 

exclusively by the residents of Hillcrest.  In social gatherings we have sometimes had 

people from properties either side of Hillcrest attend.  We have also had children from 

properties near Hillcrest join the estate children, but this is infrequent. 

 

“As of Right” 

 

I have lived here for 30 years now and have never been advised by the landowners 

that the Land is not available for children.  There has never been any signage or 

fencing to discourage its use.  The Objector cannot have been unaware of the land use 

by residents, particularly since 2014 when he took over responsibility for mowing the 

grass.   Children have played on the grass whilst he was cutting it. 

 

Had he objected to the use of the Land I am sure he would have constructed a fence 

around it and put up a sign, as he did with the small area of land on the other side of 

the B4568 to Hillcrest. 

 

“Lawful sports and pastimes” 

 

Throughout the 20 year period children have used the Land for recreation.  In the 

early days when the grass was a bit long the children would make dens and camps and 

kick footballs about where they flattened the grass.  Since the grass was shorter thay 

have used it for Cricket, Football, Rugby practice, Frisbee throwing, flying kites, 

camping, and several other pastimes. 

 

Adults have used it for occasional social gatherings. 

 

“Period of usage” 

 

The Objector claims the Land was unusable before 2003 but I intend to demonstrate 

that that is an incorrect claim and the land was useable from before the “start date” of 

October 1996 

 

 

Page 179



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 180



DATE: SEPTEMBER 2018 

COMMONS REGISTRATION ACT 1965 & COMMONS ACT 2006 – SECTION 15 (1) 

APPLICATION BY MR RICHARD AMY FOR THE REGISTRATION OF LAND AS A TOWN OR 

VILLAGE GREEN 

LAND AT HILLCREST, ABERHAFESP, NEWTOWN 

COUNCIL REF: RCCS/TVG/SB/16-001VG 

CASE SUMMARY OF LEGAL ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES 

ON BEHALF OF THE LANDOWNER IN OBJECTION 

FBC MANBY BOWDLER LLP 
ROUTH HOUSE 
HALL COURT 

HALL PARK WAY 
TELFORD 
TF3 4NJ 

NB/MT/979001/1 

Document 31

Page 181



2 

1. These submissions are made on behalf of Mr Frank Davies in relation to the

application by Mr Richard Amy (‘the Applicant’) under s15 of the Commons Act 2006

for a Town or Village Green (‘the Application’) on land at Hillcrest, Aberhafesp (‘the

Land’).

2. The Application has been allocated reference RCCS/TVG/SB/16-001VG by the

Council and the validity of the Application will be considered at a hearing on 10 and 11

October 2018 (‘the Hearing’).

3. The Land is owned by Mr Davies (‘the Owner’) and his late brother’s wife Mrs Carol

Margaret Davies. The Owner objects to the Application and the submissions in this

document set out the legal arguments and authorities upon which the Owner intends to

rely at the Hearing. We are not formally instructed by Mrs Davies but are advised that

she is content for the Owner to instruct us to resist the Application. We are not, at

present, instructed to appear on the Owner’s behalf at the Hearing.

The Law 

4. The Commons Act 2006 s15 provides that any person may apply to the commons

registration authority to register land as a town or village green where a significant

number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within a

locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the Land for a

period of at least 20 years.

5. The requirements of s15 of the Commons Act 2006 are dealt with separately below.

Each component part of the legal test must be satisfied in order for the Application to

succeed.

6. It is for the Applicant to discharge the burden of proof in this case. The standard of

proof is the balance of probabilities.

“significant number of the inhabitants” 

7. This requirement was the subject of judicial discussion in R (Alfred McAlpine Homes

Ltd) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin), where Sullivan J held:

“71. Dealing firstly with the question of a significant number, I do not accept 

the proposition that significant in the context of section 22(1) as amended 

means a considerable or a substantial number. A neighbourhood may have a 

Page 182



3 

very limited population and a significant number of the inhabitants of such a 

neighbourhood might not be so great as to be properly described as a 

considerable or a substantial number. In my judgment the inspector 

approached the matter correctly in saying that “significant”, although 

imprecise, is an ordinary word in the English language and little help is to be 

gained from trying to define it in other language. In addition, the inspector 

correctly concluded that, whether the evidence showed that a significant 

number of the inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a 

locality had used the meadow for informal recreation was very much a matter 

of impression. It is necessary to ask the question: significant for what 

purpose? In my judgment the correct answer is provided by Mr Mynors on 

behalf of the council, when he submits that what matters is that the number of 

people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use 

of the land signifies that it is in general use by the local community for 

informal recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers.” 

8. In other cases the Court has established that what constitutes ‘significant’ will depend

on the context of the locality or neighbourhood and the circumstances of the case.

9. In the Evidence Questionnaire attached to the Application, the Applicant confirms

that the claimed locality/neighbourhood is ‘Hillcrest’; it is assumed that he is referring

to the Hillcrest housing estate (‘the Estate’).

10. The test therefore is whether the Land has been used by a significant number of the

inhabitants of the Estate. As per Sullivan J’s dicta above, the question which needs

to be asked is whether the number of people using the Land has been sufficient to

indicate that their use signifies general use rather than occasional use. It is submitted

that the evidence submitted with the Application does not come close to establishing

that.

11. Firstly, the evidence suggests that at the time of the Application (and for some years

prior to that) a large number of the users of the Land did not reside on the Estate

(and were not therefore inhabitants of the locality or neighbourhood):

i) Eluned Jones (who at the time of writing her letter had moved off the Estate)

says that her children (who presumably live with her and therefore not on the

Page 183



4 

Estate) play on the Land when she takes them to visit her parents, who live 

on the Estate; 

ii) Elizabeth Davies says that she lives on the Estate and that her children (who

used to play on the Land) now bring their children to play on the Land ‘when

they visit’; again, presumably Ms Davies’ grandchildren do not live on the

Estate and are not therefore ‘inhabitants’;

iii) Mrs P Bound also says that her grandchildren play on the Land when they

visit her;

12. The evidence also suggests that the use of the Land by children who were resident

on the Estate decreased significantly in the years immediately prior to the submission

of the Application: one example is the Evidence Questionnaire attached to the

application, in which the Applicant says (at 21) that his children no longer play on the

Land because they got too old; in the document attached to the Application and

referred to by the Applicant as his ‘Fuller Summary’ he states that a few families have

remained living at Hillcrest after their children have departed.

13. In his letter to the Council dated 7 September 2018 the Owner states that the

children of many of the current residents living on the Estate used to play on the

Land years ago, but have since grown up and moved off the Estate. The Owner also

says that there were only 2 children living on the Estate when the Application was

made, and produced evidence confirming that the nearest school closed on 31

December 2011.

14. Looking at the evidence holistically, it is clear that prior to the Application being

submitted the Land was primarily played on by children who were not resident on the

Estate, and were not therefore inhabitants of the locality/neighbourhood.

15. The evidence of use of the Land by adults residing on the Estate must also be

assessed. Overall, the evidence of adult inhabitants of the Estate engaging in lawful

sports or pastimes on the Land too is vague and unsupported for the Council to be

satisfied on the balance of probabilities. There is no documentary evidence (e.g.

photographs) of such events, which one would expect; the evidence of the few

inhabitants who do refer to social gatherings suggests that they are extremely rare.

Examples include:

Page 184



5 

i) John and Diane Law say that they have attended two ‘get togethers’ of the

residents’ in the couple of years preceding their letter, which suggests that the

get togethers are very rare. They are also not specific as to whether the get

togethers were meetings, or sports or pastimes – the phrase could fall into

either bracket;

ii) D.R. Jones says that the whole community use the Land to have a

neighbourhood get together; however, they are not specific as to whether

they are lawful sports or pastimes or in fact are the meetings referred to by

others. Again, the phrase could fall into either bracket.

16. Even if one was to assume that some of the gatherings referred to were indeed

‘lawful sports or pastimes’, only a small percentage of the residents who made

submissions actually refer to adult activities; the vast majority refer only to children

playing.

17. The evidence does not, therefore, establish on the balance of probabilities, that a

significant number of the inhabitants of the Estate were using it. The impression

gleaned from the evidence is very much one of occasional use by younger

inhabitants, rather than general use by a significant number of inhabitants.

“Any locality, or any neighbourhood within a locality” 

18. The Land must have been used by inhabitants of a “locality” or of “any

neighbourhood within a locality”. The locality/neighbourhood claimed is the Estate.

19. In Ministry of Defence v Wiltshire County Council [1995] 4 All ER 931 the Court held

that a ‘locality’ needs to be an area capable of being defined by some division known

in law such as a parish or local government area, and that the Court held that the

residents of three streets did not constitute a locality. The Court in R (Laing Homes) v

Buckinghamshire CC [2003] PLR 60 confirmed that a “locality” must be some legally

recognised administrative unit and not an arbitrary line on a map.

20. The second limb to the test (“any neighbourhood within a locality”) is more flexible

than the first but the Court in R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire

District Council [2003] EWHC 2803 (Admin) held that a ‘neighbourhood’ “has to

be….a sufficiently cohesive entity that is capable of definition. Merely drawing a line 

on a plan does not thereby create a "locality". 

Page 185



6 

21. The Applicant has not made it clear whether his claim is based on use by inhabitants

of a locality or of a neighbourhood within a locality. It is assumed, given the limited

extent of the Land, that it is the latter, and that the neighbourhood claimed is the

Estate, and the locality claimed is Aberhafesp.

22. It is submitted that the Estate does not constitute a neighbourhood within a locality,

and the submissions in this regard made in Wace Morgan’s letter of 28 June 2017 on

behalf of the Owner are repeated.

 “As of right” 

23. In R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex p Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335

(‘Sunningwell’) the House of Lords held that use is not “as of right” unless it is nec vi,

nec clam, nec precario; Lord Hoffmann confirmed that that meant not by force, nor

stealth, nor the licence of the owner.

24. In Sunningwell, Lord Hoffmann cited with approval a passage of Fry J from Dalton v

Angus (1881) 6 App Cas 740 in which the doctrine of lost modern grant was

established: 

“in my opinion, the whole law of prescription and the whole law which governs 

the presumption or inference of a grant or covenant rest upon acquiescence. 

The Courts and the Judges have had recourse to various expedients for 

quieting the possession of persons in the exercise of rights which have not 

been resisted by the persons against whom they are exercised, but in all 

cases it appears to me that acquiescence and nothing else is the principle 

upon which these expedients rest.” 

25. In R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] UKSC 11 Lord Walker

(at para 30) referred to the proposition relied on by Counsel in that case that “if the

public (or a section of the public) is to acquire a right by prescription, they must by

their conduct bring home to the landowner that a right is being asserted against him,

so that the landowner has to choose between warning the trespassers off, or

eventually finding that they have established the asserted right against him.”

26. Lord Walker added (at para 36) that he had “. . . no difficulty in accepting that Lord

Hoffmann was absolutely right, in Sunningwell [2000] 1 AC 335, to say that the

English theory of prescription is concerned with 'how the matter would have

Page 186



7 

appeared to the owner of the land' (or if there was an absentee owner, to a 

reasonable owner who was on the spot).” 

27. The Owner has not given anybody express permission to use the Land.

28. However it is contended that, aside from the occasional child playing on the Land,

the Owner has not seen or been made aware of any social use of the Land e.g.

social gatherings, firework displays or other activities which it is claimed have taken

place, despite him passing it regularly by car (he lives only a few miles away) and

mowing it regularly.

29. Whilst the inhabitants may not have intended their use to be secretive or by stealth,

the use has not been sufficient to bring home to the Owner that a right is being

asserted against him, and as such he has not had the choice of warning them off the

Land as is required (per Lord Walker in the 2010 Supreme Court case of Redcar,

referred to above).

“Lawful sports and pastimes” 

30. In the Sunningwell case Lord Hoffmann said:

“As a matter of language, I think that "sports and pastimes" is not two classes of 

activities but a single composite class which uses two words in order to avoid 

arguments over whether an activity is a sport or a pastime. The law constantly 

uses pairs of words in this way. As long as the activity can properly be called a 

sport or a pastime, it falls within the composite class”. 

31. The Application suggests that activities on the Land have included children playing,

barbecues, social gatherings, meetings, firework displays and snowmen building. It is

accepted that, aside from the meetings, barbecues and social gatherings, these

activities meet the definition of ‘lawful pastimes and sports’ for the purposes of s15

Commons Act 2006.

32. Several of the letters submitted with the Application refer to meetings taking place on

the Land. The Applicant says that residents’ association meetings have taken place.

It is submitted that such a meeting cannot possibly be defined as a sport or a

pastime.

Page 187



8 

33. The Court explained in Sunningwell that the context of sports and pastimes in the

Commons Act 2006 suggests that barbeques or social gatherings should not be seen

as falling into this category either.

34. The Owner has occasionally seen people walking across the Land. That is not a

lawful sport or pastime if it is walking directly from A to B; in this case the land area is

so small that those walking across it would not have been doing so as a sport or

pastime.

“For a period of at least 20 years” 

35. Subject to the exceptions below, the Land must have been used as of right for at

least 20 years prior to the date of the Application. In Oxfordshire County Council v

Oxford City Council [2006] UKHL 25 the Court confirmed that the 20 year period

must be continuous. 

36. The requirement that the use must continue up to the date of the application is

qualified in s15 as follows:

a) S15(3) says that where the use has ceased before the application is made, but

after s15 has come into force (6 September 2007 in Wales), then provided the

period between the cessation of the user and the making of the application is not

more than 2 years, the user is deemed to have continued until the date of the

application.

b) Section 15(4) says that where the use has ceased before s15 came into force, an

application must be made within 5 years. Under s15(5) the right to apply within

this 5 year period does not arise where, before 23 June 2006, construction works

have been carried out with planning permission and the land has become

permanently unusable.

37. The documents submitted with the Application contend that the use of the Land was

ongoing as at the date of the Application, and therefore the relevant period is 1996 to

2016.

38. The Owner’s case is that the Land was inaccessible to anyone from 1996 (and prior

to this from at least the mid 1980s) up until 2003 because it was overgrown with

Page 188



9 

grass and thistles. The grass and thistles were cut once a year following which it 

remained inaccessible because the cut grass and thistles were left on the Land.  

39. Even if the use of the Land met the requirements of the legislation from 2003 to

2016, that would only give 13 years and the Application would fail. The required 20

years use could not have been achieved prior to the 1980s because the Applicant

says that the contended use commenced in 1988.

40. On this basis, the claim should not succeed.

41. If, however, for whatever reason the Owner’s case on this is not accepted, the Owner

contends that the use of the Land has not continued for any 20 year period (whether

from 1996 to 2016), or even between 1994 to 2014 if s15(3) were relied on by the

Applicant, which is has not been.

42. The Applicant contends that, even if the other requirements of s15(2) are met (and it

is denied that they are), the use has not continued for in excess of 20 years, and that

the use ceased in or around 2010/11. This is corroborated by some of the letters

submitted with the Application, including those of Eluned Jones, Elizabeth Davies

and Mrs P Bound (referred to above). In addition, the closure of the local school in

2011 supports the Owner’s contention that the number of children resident on the

Estate had dramatically decreased by that point. D.R Jones’ letter says that the

whole community use the Land to have a neighbourhood get together; however, the

letter also confirms that they had only lived on the Estate for 6 years, and cannot

therefore attest to any get togethers taking place prior to this.

43. Whilst the Applicant does not need to show that the Land has been permanently in

use for lawful sports and pastimes for the full 20 year period, the Sunningwell case

confirmed that if the use is “so trivial and sporadic as not to carry the outward

appearance of user as of right” then the Application should not be validated.

44. This echoed what was said by Buckley J in White v Taylor (No. 2) (1969) 1 Ch 160

who said: “...the user must be shown to have been of such a character, degree and

frequency as to indicate an assertion by the claimant of a continuous right, and of a

right of the measure of the right claimed.”

Conclusion 

Page 189



10 

45. Several aspects of the test set out in s15 are simply not made out:

i) ‘significant number of the inhabitants’: the Application does not show that the

Land has been used by a significant number of inhabitants of the Estate, and

suggests that the numbers of people using the Land has been so insignificant

that it signifies that it has been in general use rather than occasional use;

ii) “As of right”: the use of the Land has not been sufficient or significant enough

so as to bring home to the Owner that a prescriptive right was being asserted

against him; the owner did not, therefore, have the choice of warning the

users off or finding that the rights have been established;

iii) “For a period of at least 20 years”: the Land was inaccessible from the mid

1980s to 2003, such that it is impossible for the 20 year period to be made

out. Even if the Land had been accessible during that period (and even if the

other requirements of s15 were met, which they were not), it is contended that

the use stopped prior to the submission of the Application.

46. It is clear that, on the balance of probabilities, each component part of the legal test

in s15 of the Commons Act 2006 has not been satisfied. For these reasons, the

Application is not valid.

Page 190



Timetable – Village Green hearing, 10th & 11th October 16-001VG

Time What
Thursday 11th October:
10:00 Hearing reconvenes – Welcome, fire arrangements, introduction
10:15 Landowner – Statement and cross examination
10:30 Landowner closing statement
10:45 Applicant closing statement
11:00 Public hearing closes

Page 191

3.1



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2.3 Timetable for the hearing
	2.4 Officer's report
	Appendix A 16-001VG Location plan

	2.5 Documentation
	02. 16-001VG Exhibit A - Redacted
	03. 16-001VG Exhibit B - Redacted
	04. 16-001VG Exhibit C - Redacted
	05. 16-001VG Exhibit D cover - Redacted
	06. 16-001VG Exhibit D Letters - Redacted
	07. 16-001VG Fuller summary - Redacted
	08. 16-001VG - User evidence form Mr Amy Redacted
	09. 16-001VG T Burrows letter - Redacted
	10. 16-001VG Photo 11th Dec 16
	11. 16-001VG Photo 18th Dec 16.
	12. 16-001VG Notes photos 11th Dec and 18th Dec
	13. 16-001VG Objections from GPP Davies received 02 Mar 2017
	14. 16-001VG Comments from Wace Morgan 16-001VG
	15. 16-001VG Objection response_Email to L Opik Redacted
	16. 16-001VG Objection response letter from applicantR
	17. 16-001VG Objection response Part 2R
	18. 16-001VG Objection reponse_Letter from Burrows & BrabinR
	19. 16-001VG Objection response_Letter from L JonesR
	20. 16-001VG Objection response-17 Signed statements by residentsR
	21. 16-001VG Objection response_Planning Document
	22. 16-001VG Objection response-Planning Email from Outdoor Rec
	23. 16-001VG Aberhafesp Community Council response
	24a. 16-001VG Covering letter_photos & List of witnesses received from the applicant_Redacted
	24b. 16-001VG Covering letter_photos & List of witnesses received from the applicant_Redacted
	25. 16-001VG New Witness Statements received from the applicant_Redacted
	26. 16-001VG Statements from people unable to attend hearing_Redacted
	27. 16-001VG Additional Photos dated 2003 to 2017_Redacted
	28. 16-001VG Additional Photos dated 2018- Redacted
	29. Letter from Landowner F Davies to Powys County Council_1_Redacted
	30. 16-001VG Case Summary from the applicant
	31. 16-001VG LEGAL SUBMISSIONS from Landowner F Davies

	3.1 Timetable for the Hearing



